IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

FILED

12/30/2024

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0539

No. DA 24-0539

GARY WAYNE TEMPLE,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

STATE OF MONTANA,

Defendant and Appellant.

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT (REDACTED)

On Appeal from the Montana Eighth Judicial District Court, Cascade County, the Honorable Elizabeth Best, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

LAURA REED P.O. Box 17437 Missoula, MT 59808 laurareedlawmt@gmail.com (406) 493-2336

JOSHUA VAN DE WETERING 512 E. Broadway Missoula, MT 59802 josh.vandewetering@bresnan.net

INTRODUCTION

At closing argument in the December 2019 trial of Gary Temple for drug distribution, the prosecutor urged the jury to convict because witness Donny Ferguson had a pure motive for testifying: "And then, of course, Donny's motivation for testifying she said was that she's already taken responsibility for what she did." D.C. Doc. 7, 12/5/19 and 12/6/19 Trial Tr. at 388-89 (hereinafter "Trial Tr."). And indeed, the prosecutor had elicited that testimony during the trial, asking her directly why she was testifying that day. Ms. Ferguson's answer:

"I've accepted responsibility for my actions for the last two and a half years that I've dealt drugs throughout the state of Montana. And I just feel that, you know, everybody else needs to accept their responsibility. I've taken the consequences for my actions."

Trial Tr. at 273. The prosecutor even went so far as to elicit that Ms. Ferguson had been prosecuted federally, that she had received a sentence of 128 months in prison, and asked Ms. Ferguson directly whether "the U.S. Attorney's Office [has] given you any deals to testify today?" To which Ms. Ferguson answered, "No."

Regrettably, that exchange did not include, as Paul Harvey used to say, "the rest of the story." In fact, Ms. Ferguson was indeed

expecting a reduction in her prison sentence under Rule 35 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, which makes no effort to hide its quid-pro-quo purpose as it is plainly named, "reducing a sentence for substantial assistance." Fed. R. Crim. P. 35(b). Ms. Ferguson had participated in a debrief interview with both the state and federal prosecutors a number of months earlier in March 2019. At that time Ms. Ferguson gave information about far more than just Mr. Temple. She gave information about drug dealing by several other people, and also about issues at the Cascade County Detention Center. And she did in fact receive a reduction in her sentence for her substantial assistance. That motion did not come until two weeks after her testimony in Mr. Temple's trial, however. That delay likely was not a concern to her, though. A number of years earlier she had also been prosecuted by the federal government for drug distribution and had received a break in her sentence in exchange for her cooperation in that case, too. Indeed, Ms. Ferguson's federal prosecutor testified that she had never failed to give a motion to reduce sentence after a defendant supplied substantial assistance.

It seems clear that Ms. Ferguson was not testifying merely for altruistic reasons, but that she was also working for a reduction in her sentence. We are not sure, though, because the defense was never informed of this ulterior motive. The defense was never told she had received a substantial assistance motion previously, nor that she had given additional information to the government, nor that she had received a 5K1 earlier that year, nor that any motion to reduce her sentence was being held in abeyance pending her testimony in Mr. Temple's trial. Had Mr. Temple's trial lawyer known any of this information, he would have cross-examined Ms. Ferguson about it. He believed her credibility was key to Mr. Temple's conviction and that he had no way of impeaching her. 7/12/24 Post-conviction Hrg. Tr. at 19. The prosecutor's efforts to bolster Ms. Ferguson's credibility before the jury using half-truths only underscores this conclusion.

Later, at Mr. Temple's sentencing, the Court relied on Ms.

Ferguson's claim that Mr. Temple had participated in other drug deals adding up to substantial amounts of drugs to justify a 30-year prison sentence (ten of which was suspended). No other witness testified to weight anywhere close to what Ms. Ferguson claimed. By then, too, Ms.

Ferguson had received her reduction in sentence. Mr. Temple's counsel was not informed of that sealed document, either.

Thus, Mr. Temple's claim is rooted in *Brady*. The prosecution knew about exculpatory impeachment information and failed to provide it to the defense as required by the Constitution. Mr. Temple is therefore entitled to a new trial and a new sentencing hearing if convicted at trial.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the prosecution violated the *Brady* rule by failing to tell defense counsel that a key witness was expecting a reduction in her federal sentence as a reward for testifying in state court, where the state had participated in a debrief with the witness and the federal prosecutor prosecuting the witness.
- 2. Whether the prosecution violated the *Brady* rule by failing to provide information for sentencing that the witness had in fact received a reduction in her sentence for her testimony against Mr. Temple and where the District Court used that witness's uncorroborated claim of substantial amounts of drug-dealing to mete out a substantial sentence.

3. Whether the prosecution violated Due Process by failing to correct a witness's claim that she had been promised no benefit for testifying and that she was only testifying in the interests of fairness and justice, when in fact a sentence reduction for her testimony was expected and later granted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a case which comes to the Court on post-conviction review, claiming that the prosecution failed at the District Court level to disclose exculpatory and impeachment material to the defense.

Mr. Temple was convicted of distribution of dangerous drugs in December 2019, and was sentenced to 30 years in prison (ten suspended) in February, 2020. He appealed his conviction to this Court, raising several non-*Brady* issues (at the time of writing the appeal, the *Brady* information still had not been disclosed and Mr. Temple's counsel was still engaged in prying loose the facts), none of which succeeded. His appeal was denied by this Court in December 2022, in cause number DA 20-0221.

Mr. Temple filed a motion for post-conviction relief on August 28, 2023. After briefing the Court held a hearing on July 12, 2024, and

denied Mr. Temple's petition by written order on July 15, 2024. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Because this claim comes on *Habeas* review, the facts of Mr.

Temple's conviction are not relevant and are not included. Instead, because this claim is focused on the State's failure to meet its *Brady* obligation, the facts and arguments are focused there.

Facts relevant to Temple's trial in district court

In September, 2018, the State charged Mr. Temple with two counts of criminal distribution of dangerous drugs. D.C. Doc. 7 at 2. The original charges were based on two controlled transactions in November, 2017. In April, 2019, the State amended the charges to one count of criminal distribution of dangerous drugs based on continuous conduct between July 2017 and February, 2018. *Id*.

At Temple's trial in December, 2019, the State offered testimony from four witnesses who had been involved in distributing methamphetamine in the Great Falls area. *See* Trial Tr. No law enforcement witnesses testified that they personally observed Mr. Temple distributing drugs. The only direct evidence that Mr. Temple

distributed drugs came from these witnesses, all of whom were felons convicted of distributing drugs themselves. The State presented no physical evidence such as seized drugs, surveillance video or recordings, or fingerprint or DNA evidence.

The State's first two witnesses, who were involved in two controlled buys for small amounts of meth, admitted that they had received probationary sentences in exchange for their testimony. One expected a favorable outcome in another pending drug possession case. Trial Tr. at 144, 182-83, 185.

Brian Osborn also testified for the prosecution. He claimed he was not receiving any benefits for his testimony in this case, as he similarly claimed when testifying at other trials. Trial Tr. at 226, 229; see also D.C. Doc. 36, Ex. 6L at 8, 11-12. Nevertheless, three weeks after Mr. Temple's trial, Mr. Osborn's pending drug possession charge was dismissed by the prosecutor. See D.C. Doc. 36, containing Ex. 6 and Ex. 6H. Fifty days after the trial, one of his pending petitions to revoke was dismissed by her as well. D.C. Doc. 36, Ex. 6I. And three months after the trial, Mr. Osborn received a suspended sentence on his remaining petition to revoke. D.C. Doc. 36, Ex. 6J.

Donny Lynn Ferguson was the State's key witness. The prosecutor described her as "the queen bee of methamphetamine dealing." Trial Tr. at 382. Ms. Ferguson had pled guilty in federal court in August, 2018, for possession of 50 grams of meth with intent to distribute, as well as felony possession of a firearm. Trial Tr. at 254. In February, 2019, she had been sentenced to 128 months in federal prison. Trial Tr. at 255; D.C. Doc. 7, Ex. 5, Ferguson Original Judgment.

At Temple's trial, Ms. Ferguson testified that she distributed to Mr. Temple at least ten pounds of drugs (5000 grams) during the period of summer 2017 through November 2017. Trial Tr. at 260. No other witness corroborated this testimony.

The prosecutor had Ms. Ferguson tell the jury that she had not received any deals from the government for testifying against Mr. Temple. She elicited testimony from Ms. Ferguson that her only motivation for testifying was to hold Mr. Temple accountable for drug dealing.

¹ See also Ferguson plea agreement, available at pacer.uscourts.gov. Petitioner asks this Court to take judicial notice of Ferguson's 8/30/18 plea agreement, United States v. Donny Lynn Ferguson, Case 4:18-cr00056-BMM, which states on page 3 that she admits to possession with intent to distribute only 50 grams of meth.

Q. We've given you immunity, but you're not pending any State charges; is that correct? A. No.

Q. Has the U.S. Attorney's Office given you any deals to testify today?

A. No.

Q. Why are you testifying today?

A. I've accepted responsibility for my actions for the last two and a half years that I've dealt drugs throughout the state of Montana. And I just feel that, you know, everybody else needs to accept their responsibility. I've taken the consequences for my actions.

Trial Tr. at 273.

The prosecutor emphasized Ms. Ferguson's testimony heavily in closing, referring to it at least eight (8) times and arguing that the large amounts of drugs Ms. Ferguson had sold Mr. Temple were powerful evidence that he had distributed drugs throughout this period. Trial Tr. at 382-390, 396-403. The prosecutor also told the jury that Ms. Ferguson's only motive for testifying against Mr. Temple was that he should be held accountable just as she had been.

So let's talk for a minute about some of these witnesses' motivation for testifying...
And then, of course, **Donny's motivation for testifying she said was that she's already taken responsibility for what she did.** Okay. She pleaded guilty and she's been sentenced on a possession with intent to distribute. And her

motivation was that she thinks the Defendant should also be held accountable for his role in all of this.

Trial Tr. at 388-89.

On December 6, 2019, a jury found Mr. Temple guilty of distribution of dangerous drugs.

Impeachment evidence that the State failed to disclose

What Ms. Ferguson and the prosecutor failed to mention to the jury was that Ms. Ferguson had already received significant breaks on her federal sentence in exchange for cooperation, and that she had a good expectation of receiving further reductions for testifying against Mr. Temple. When Ms. Ferguson had been charged in 2018 with possession of meth with intent to distribute, as well as with being a felon in possession of a gun, she had been looking at a federal sentence in the guideline range of . D.C. Doc. 18, Ex. 2B, at 2 (hereinafter App. B). (This was because she had a prior federal drug distribution conviction from 2006).

Ms. Ferguson did not tell the jury about how she had spent the earlier part of 2019 cooperating with law enforcement and offering information on anyone and everyone she could. Despite her guideline

only 128 months, far below her guideline range,

7/12/24 Post-

conviction Hrg. Tr. at 62, 64 (hereinafter App. D—AUSA testimony).

After Ferguson's February 2019 sentencing, she and her attorney continued to work to get her to receive further sentencing reductions through the Rule 35 mechanism available to federal defendants who continue to provide information in the first year after they are sentenced. U.S.C.S. Fed. R. Crim. Proc. R. 35. Ms. Ferguson met with the state prosecutor and law enforcement more than once, in an effort to disclose everything she could about other defendants in the drug world.

Ms. Ferguson was familiar with the Rule 35 process because she had benefited from it during her first go-around in federal court in 2006. At that time, she had been sentenced to 120 months on her first federal drug distribution charge. D.C. Doc. 76, Ex. 7B at 1-2. Because she had offered information to the government, however, the AUSA had filed a Rule 35 motion on her behalf. *Id.* In May, 2006, Ms. Ferguson wrote a letter to U.S. District Judge Haddon, complaining that her

attorney wasn't doing enough to facilitate her Rule 35 sentencing hearing. D.C. Doc. 76, Ex. 7A (hereinafter App. E). She explained to the judge that she was hoping for a sentence reduction because she had provided substantial assistance and was annoyed that her attorney wasn't doing enough to set up her Rule 35 resentencing. Judge Haddon appointed her a new attorney, and Ferguson's sentence was reduced to 84 months. D.C. Doc. 76, Ex. 7C. So Ms. Ferguson knew all about the federal Rule 35 sentence reduction process.

Fast-forward to 2019. Ms. Ferguson had apparently mentioned Mr. Temple in debriefings before the one in March 2019, possibly even before the 5K1 motion was filed and she was sentenced on February 21, 2019 to 128 months. A post-sentencing debriefing was set up for Ms. Ferguson on March 30, 2019, which the Cascade County prosecutor attended, as well as Detective Lynch and AUSA Betley. 7/12/24 Post-conviction Hrg.; Petitioner's Ex. 1 (March 2019 debrief unredacted transcript). The debriefing began with Ms. Ferguson offering to tell the State prosecutor and Detective Lynch about her relationship with Mr. Temple. This time, speaking under a grant of immunity and with her own guilty plea safely behind her, she was far less reticent about the

amount of drugs she had distributed. She claimed that she had given Mr. Temple "ten" or "I'm sorry, about fifty pounds" of meth to distribute. *Id.* at 5.

Around this time, and at some point after Ms. Ferguson had been sentenced for the first time in February, 2019, AUSA Betley told Ferguson's attorney that if she provided substantial assistance, then she would file a Rule 35 motion on her behalf. App. D at 58. Betley later testified that she always filed Rule 35 motions if a defendant offered substantial assistance. *Id.* at 65.

Ms. Ferguson testified at Mr. Temple's trial on December 6, 2019.

Temple was convicted.

None of this information was disclosed to Mr. Temple's jury, his trial attorney, Paul Neal, or the district court. Meanwhile, Mr. Temple had not yet been sentenced.

At his sentencing on February 24, 2020, the Cascade County prosecutor argued for a 30-year sentence for the single count of drug distribution. She contended that the sentence was justified because Mr. Temple had distributed "at a minimum, 10 pounds of meth" to the Great Falls community, at least according to Ms. Ferguson. 2/24/20 Sentencing Tr. at 9-10.

The prosecutor did not mention that at the time Ms. Ferguson had made the statement, she was hoping for a sentencing break. She also failed to mention that Ms. Ferguson had in fact already received a four-year sentencing break, a month after testifying. The district court expressly relied on Ms. Ferguson's "ten-pound allegation" in giving Mr. Temple a 30-year sentence. "This was a substantial, overwhelming amount of drugs, methamphetamines specifically, that was introduced

into our community." 2/24/20 Sentencing Tr. at 15; see also Temple's Judgment Order, cited in D.C. Doc. 6.

Procedural history following Temple's conviction

After Mr. Temple was convicted, his direct appeal was denied.

Undersigned counsel, who was his appellate counsel on direct appeal,
was skeptical about Ms. Ferguson's testimony. She then filed a motion
to unseal Rule 35 documents in the U.S. District Court in Great Falls.

The documents were disclosed to Mr. Temple's counsel with an order that they remain sealed. Temple's counsel thus obtained these Brady impeachment

materials long after his direct appeal had been denied.

Mr. Temple filed his petition for post-conviction relief on August 31, 2023. On July 12, 2024, the district court held a post-conviction hearing on Temple's petition.

Temple's post-conviction hearing

At the post-conviction hearing, Temple's trial counsel, Paul Neal, testified that he had never been made aware that Ms. Ferguson was expecting, or that she had received, a four-year reduction in her sentence shortly after testifying against Mr. Temple. He also stated that Ms. Ferguson had told him, in his pretrial interview, that she was expecting to receive no benefits whatsoever in exchange for her testimony. 7/12/24 Post-conviction Hrg. Tr. at 19. Mr. Neal also testified that Ms. Ferguson was the witness who was the most damaging to the defense case, and that during trial he felt that he had no way of impeaching her. *Id.* at 16.

AUSA Betley testified that she had told Ms. Ferguson's attorney prior to Mr. Temple's trial that she would file a Rule 35 motion on her behalf if she provided substantial assistance. App. D at 58. She stated

that she always filed such motions if defendants provided substantial assistance. *Id.* at 65. She agreed that a federal defendant who debriefs with law enforcement after sentencing has an expectation of a Rule 35 sentencing reduction. *Id.* at 66.

The district court denied Mr. Temple's petition on July 15, 2024. See Order denying petition (hereinafter App. A).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

First, the district court used a legally incorrect, overly narrow, definition of "impeachment evidence" for *Brady* claims. The court required Mr. Temple to prove that a "quid pro quo" agreement for Ferguson's sentence reduction existed and was executed prior to trial. In doing so, the court did not follow U.S. Supreme Court decisions stating that "impeachment evidence" means any evidence showing that the witness had an expectation of a sentencing benefit. The federal decisions cited by the district court – *Giglio and Alderman v. Zant* – expressly do not require proof of a pretrial "quid pro quo" agreement.

In denying Temple's *Brady* claim, the court also erred in determining that the State did not possess the impeachment evidence.

Montana's discovery statute, MCA § 46-15-322 (4), requires the State to

disclose "material and information in the possession or control of members of the prosecutor's staff and of any other persons who have participated in the investigation or evaluation of the case." The State prosecutor knew Ms. Ferguson expected a break on her sentence; that is why the federal prosecutor was present for the State's March interview of Ms. Ferguson in the first place.

Second, the court erred in denying Mr. Temple's *Brady* claim for his sentencing. Mr. Temple's 30-year sentence for drug distribution was based on Ms. Ferguson's "ten-pound" allegation. Ms. Ferguson was the only witness who offered this evidence, and Mr. Temple should have been permitted to impeach her with her motive to obtain leniency for herself.

The district court devoted little analysis to this *Brady* sentencing claim, determining that it was "record-based" and should have been raised on direct appeal. This analysis was unsupported by any evidence. Mr. Temple's claim was based on the Rule 35 motion and sentencing order that Temple's counsel did not obtain until August, 2023, long after his direct appeal was denied.

Third, the court erred in denying Mr. Temple's *Napue* claim that Ms. Ferguson testified falsely at his trial and that the State failed to correct her testimony. The court erred in concluding that Mr. Temple had to prove the State did not know the testimony was false. In fact, Ninth Circuit precedent provides that a petitioner need only prove the State "should have known" the testimony was false.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a district court's denial of a petition for post-conviction relief to determine whether the district court's findings of fact are clearly erroneous, and whether its conclusions of law are correct. *Stock v. State*, 2014 MT 46, ¶9, 347 Mont. 80, 318 P.3d 1053.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING TEMPLE'S BRADY CLAIM THAT THE STATE FAILED TO DISCLOSE A KEY WITNESS' EXPECTATION OF RULE 35 BENEFITS FOR TESTIFYING AGAINST HIM.

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