IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 24-0539

---

GARY TEMPLE,

Petitioner and Appellant,

v.

STATE OF MONTANA,

Respondent and Appellee.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

---

On Appeal from the Montana Eighth Judicial District Court,  
Cascade County, The Honorable Elizabeth Best, Presiding

---

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN  
Montana Attorney General  
KATIE F. SCHULZ  
Assistant Attorney General  
215 North Sanders  
P.O. Box 201401  
Helena, MT 59620-1401  
Phone: 406-444-2026  
kschulz@mt.gov

LAURA REED  
Attorney at Law  
P.O. Box 17437  
Missoula, MT 59808

JOSHUA VAN DE WETERING  
Attorney at Law  
512 East Broadway  
Missoula, MT 59802

JOSHUA A. RACKI

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The district court applied the appropriate law and did not make any erroneous findings of fact when it concluded that Temple had not established all three *Brady/Giglio* factors.

First, the court correctly determined that Temple presented no evidence that the State and Ferguson entered into a cooperation agreement. The court also correctly found that Temple failed to present evidence that Ferguson expected the Government to file the Rule 35(b) Motion, or even that she hoped the motion would be filed.

Second, the court correctly determined that Fuller had no knowledge about the potential for a Rule 35(b) Motion to be filed in Ferguson’s case, let alone that Ferguson may have expected/hoped for such a thing. Temple also failed to establish that Betley had promised any potential benefit to Ferguson. Thus, even if Betley’s actions in Ferguson’s federal case could be imputed to Fuller—which they are not—there was nothing for Fuller to disclose since no agreement existed.

Lastly, Temple failed to demonstrate that not cross-examining Ferguson about the possibility her federal sentence could be reduced created a reasonable belief that the outcome of her trial or sentencing would have been different. Ferguson's testimony simply corroborated Wilson's and Osborn's testimony that Temple had sold methamphetamine by explaining where Temple obtained the drugs that he sold. Her testimony did not establish any of the required elements of distribution of dangerous drugs, thus, it would not have impacted the verdict. Nor was it the sole reason for Temple's sentence. There were ample other reasons for the 30-year sentence with 10 years suspended. Namely, Temple's significant criminal history, two prior PFO sentences, and given that he was still serving his 20-year sentence with 10 years suspended when he sold methamphetamine in 2017.

Finally, the district court also correctly concluded Temple failed to establish the three *Napue* factors since Ferguson had not testified falsely, so there was nothing for Fuller to correct.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. The district court correctly concluded that the State had not withheld impeachment evidence material to either Temple's guilt or the sentence he received.**

“In all criminal cases the prosecution has a long-established duty to provide to the defense any exculpatory or impeachment evidence in its possession.”

*McGarvey v. State*, 2014 MT 189, ¶ 16, 375 Mont. 495, 329 P.3d 576 (citation omitted). Independent of criminal discovery statutes, and implied from the fundamental fair trial rights guaranteed to criminal defendants under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, prosecutors have an affirmative duty to disclose all information and materials known to the prosecutor that are favorable to the accused and constitutionally material to the determination of his or her guilt or punishment. *Brady*, 373 U.S. at 87-88.

“[T]he suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution.”

*Brady*, 373 U.S. at 87. Pursuant to *Brady* and its progeny, criminal prosecutors have a due process obligation to disclose to the defendant knowledge of material evidence favorable to the defendant either because it is exculpatory or because it can serve to impeach a key witness. *See Kyles v. Whitley*, 514 U.S. 419, 433 (1995). Impeachment evidence includes promises that the prosecution makes to key witnesses in exchange for their testimony. *Giglio*, 405 U.S. at 154-55.

To establish a *Brady/Giglio* violation, the defendant must establish the following factors: (1) the State possessed evidence favorable to the defense; (2) the State suppressed/withheld that evidence; and (3) “had the evidence been disclosed, a reasonable probability exists that the outcome of the proceedings

would have been different.” *Main*, ¶ 22 (citation omitted); *Strickler v. Greene*, 527 U.S. 263, 281-82 (1999).

A petitioner for postconviction relief has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that he is entitled to relief. *Oliphant v. State*, 2023 MT 43, ¶ 38, 411 Mont. 250, 525 P.3d 1214. In postconviction proceedings, the weight of evidence and the credibility of witnesses are exclusively within the province of the district court as the trier of fact. *Garrett v. State*, 2005 MT 197, ¶ 35, 328 Mont. 165, 119 P.3d 55; *Weer v. State*, 2010 MT 232, ¶ 18, 358 Mont. 130, 244 P.3d 311 (Court will not disturb district court’s determination of witness credibility).

Temple argued that the State withheld impeachment evidence material to his guilt and the sentence he received by not informing him about a potential benefit Ferguson may have received, or expected, in exchange for testifying at his trial. To prevail on this claim, Temple had to establish, by a preponderance of the evidence, that: (a) Ferguson received/expected a reduction of her federal sentence in exchange for testifying; (b) the State was aware of Ferguson’s expectation; and (c) not being able to cross-examine Ferguson about her expectation/hope created a reasonable belief that the outcome of his trial and sentencing would have been different.

**A. Temple did not establish that Ferguson expected (or even hoped for) a reduction of her federal sentence in exchange for testifying.**

A cooperation agreement is interpreted the same as a plea agreement using contract principles. *See United States v. Carrillo*, 709 F.2d 35, 35-37 (9th Cir. 1983). The “nature and scope of an agreement between the government and [the defendant]” are a factual determination that the court makes. *Id.* The burden is on the movant to persuade the factfinder that an agreement existed. *United States v. Helmandollar*, 852 F.2d 498, 502 (9th Cir. 1988).

This Court has held that regarding alleged benefits promised to a witness for the State, “[t]he duty of disclosure is dependent [] upon an agreement or understanding with tangible benefits. Where there is no agreement, there is no duty to disclose.” *Gollehon v. State*, 1999 MT 210, ¶ 14, 296 Mont. 6, 986 P.2d 395, writ of certiorari denied *Gollehon v. Montana*, 529 U.S. 1041 (2000) (citing *Alderman v. Zant*, 22 F.3d 1541, 1555 (11th Cir. 1994), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 1061 (1994)). This Court concluded that just like alleged pretrial agreements between the State and a prosecution witness, for any alleged “post-trial” benefits to be considered *Brady* material, there must have been an agreement/understanding in place before trial. *Gollehon*, ¶ 27.

Here, the court correctly found that Temple presented no evidence that the State made any pretrial promise to Ferguson that she would receive a reduction in

her federal sentence (*i.e.*, tangible benefit) in exchange for testifying. *See Gollehon*, ¶ 14. Temple does not challenge that determination. Rather, Temple asserts that the district court used an improper definition of cooperation agreement by requiring “quid pro quo” and argues that impeachment evidence also includes “evidence showing that the witness had an *expectation*” of a benefit. (Br. at 17, 21-26 (emphasis added).) Thus, Temple faults the court for requiring proof of a “tangible” cooperation agreement.

However, Temple’s argument fails to acknowledge that, in addition to finding that the State had made no pretrial offer to reduce Ferguson’s federal sentence as discussed in *Gollehon*, the court also found that Temple failed to establish that Ferguson may have even *hoped*, let alone expected, a benefit. To do so, as Temple had essentially conceded, the court would have had to “read between the lines.”

The court was correct when it declined to do so. The court also properly declined Temple’s request to “read between the lines” to find there had been a “wink and nod” agreement with Ferguson. “Unsupported allegations and conclusions are not a basis for granting postconviction relief.” *McGarvey*, ¶ 20 (citation omitted).

The district court found that “Temple argues that Ferguson testified for the benefit reflected by the Rule 35 motion but presented no evidence to support this

argument. Temple did not call Ferguson and the record is silent as to Ferguson's motive to testify." (Doc. 82 at 9.) These findings are not clearly erroneous. The court's determination that no evidence established that Ferguson expected any benefit beyond immunity from State charges comports with *Alderman*, the Eleventh Circuit case this Court relied upon in *Gollehon*.

In *Alderman*, the Eleventh Circuit concluded that while prosecutors must disclose "any agreements entered into between the prosecutor and the witness which may motivate the witness to testify and which may affect the outcome of the trial," the *Giglio* rule did not "require the disclosure of all factors which may motivate a witness to cooperate." *Alderman*, 22 F.3d at 1555.

Prior to *Alderman*, the Eleventh Circuit had recognized that a discoverable cooperation agreement may not necessarily require a "promise," see *Brown v. Wainwright*, 785 F.2d 1457, 1464-65 (11th Cir. 1986), and had noted that "[e]ven mere 'advice' by a prosecutor concerning the future prosecution of a key government witness may fall into the category of discoverable evidence." *Haber v. Wainwright*, 756 F.2d 1520, 1524 (11th Cir. 1985).<sup>13</sup> However, that court had also found that some promises, agreements, or understandings did not need to be disclosed, because they are too ambiguous, or too loose or are of too marginal a

---

<sup>13</sup>See also *United States v. Bagley*, 473 U.S. 667, 683 (1985) (noting that the "possibility of a reward" in exchange for testimony need not be "guaranteed through a promise or binding contract" to constitute a *Brady* violation).

benefit to the witness to count. *See, e.g., McCleskey v. Kemp*, 753 F.2d 877, 884 (11th Cir. 1985) (a promise to “speak a word” on behalf of the witness did not need to be disclosed); *Depree v. Thomas*, 946 F.2d 784, 797-98 (11th Cir. 1991) (prosecutor’s statement that he would “take care” of the witness did not need to be disclosed).

Thus, in *Alderman*, the circuit court concurred that the record had not established the existence of an “understanding in exchange for or motivating” the witness to testify. *Alderman*, 22 F.3d at 1555 (defendant’s attorney’s hope that testifying against a codefendant may place him in better standing to negotiate a reduced sentence “is not an agreement within the purview of *Giglio*.” *See also Tarver v. Hopper*, 169 F.3d 710, 771 (11th Cir. 1999); *United States v. Curtis*, 380 F.3d 1311, 1315 (11th Cir. 2004) (“mere fact that the government subsequently filed a motion for substantial assistance in [witness’ federal case] does not prove that it had promised to do so”).

The Ninth Circuit also requires that to establish a *Brady/Giglio* violation, the defendant must at least prove the witness believed he would receive a benefit for testifying. *See, e.g., Williams v. Woodford*, 384 F.3d 567 (9th Cir. 2002) (evidence showing only that the prosecution witness hoped his testimony would result in a reduced sentence was insufficient to establish the existence of agreement between witness and prosecution); *Williams v. Calderon*, 52 F.3d 1465, 1475 (9th Cir.

1995) (denying the petitioner’s claim that the prosecution failed to disclose a deal with a testifying witness when the petitioner could not show the existence of the alleged deal). Other circuit courts have come to similar conclusions: to establish a *Brady/Giglio* violation, the record must contain evidence that prior to testifying, there was at least some expectation on the part of the witness that he would receive some benefit.<sup>14</sup>

---

<sup>14</sup>*Shabazz v. Artuz*, 336 F.3d 154, 165 (2d Cir. 2003) (“prosecutor afford[ing] favorable treatment to a government witness, standing alone, does not establish the existence of an underlying promise of leniency in exchange for testimony.” Prosecutors are “free to reward witnesses for their cooperation with favorable treatment in pending criminal cases without disclosing to the defendant its intention to do so, *provided* that it does not promise anything to the witnesses prior to their testimony.”) (emphasis in original); *Bracey v. Superintendent Rockview SCI*, 986 F.3d 274, 298 n.1 (3d Cir. 2021) (“[P]ost-trial favorable treatment of a witness is not within the scope of Brady disclosures.”); *Knox v. Johnson*, 224 F.3d 470, 482 (5th Cir. 2000) (deferring to the state court’s finding that the prosecution “did not make a deal with [the witness] in exchange for his testimony, did not fail to disclose an offer to [the witness], and did not offer false testimony;” record reflected only a “unilateral hope on [the witness’s] part rather than a deal, whether implicit or explicit, between [the witness] and the State.”); *Hill v. Johnson*, 210 F.3d 481, 486 n.1 (5th Cir. 2000) (“a witness’[s] ‘nebulous expectation of help from the state,’” does not constitute Brady material); *Bell v. Bell*, 512 F.3d 223, 233 (6th Cir. 2008) (en banc) (“witness’s expectation of a future benefit is not determinative of the question of whether a tacit agreement subject to [Brady] disclosure existed,” but rather there must also be evidence of a corresponding assurance or promise from the prosecutor); *Collier v. Davis*, 301 F.3d 843, 849 (7th Cir. 2002), *cert. denied*, 537 U.S. 1208, 154 L. Ed. 2d 1054, 123 S. Ct. 1290 (2003) (witnesses’ “general and hopeful expectation of leniency is not enough to create an agreement or an understanding” under *Brady*); *Mastrian v. McManus*, 554 F.2d 813, 823 (8th Cir. 1977) (declining to read *Giglio* “to support [the] claim that a crucial witness’s expectation of leniency must be revealed absent evidence of an express or implied promise”).

As the Sixth Circuit explained, “[t]he fact that [the witness] desired favorable treatment in return for his testimony in [the petitioner’s] case does not, standing alone, demonstrate the existence of an implied agreement with [the prosecutor].” *Bell*, 512 F.3d at 233. The court further explained that while a “tacit” mutual agreement must be disclosed,

it is not the case that, if the government chooses to provide assistance to a witness following a trial, a court must necessarily infer a preexisting deal subject to disclosure under *Brady* . . . To conclude otherwise would place prosecutors in the untenable position of being obligated to disclose information prior to trial that may not be available to them or to forgo the award of favorable treatment to a participating witness for fear that they will be accused of withholding evidence of an agreement.

*Id.*

Although courts have focused on nuances between formal and informal (*i.e.*, tacit or implied; agreement or promise), all agree that a *Brady/Giglio* violation requires, *at a minimum*, evidence that the witness believed or hoped for benefit for testifying for the prosecution. Here, that is exactly what was missing.

The court’s finding that Holden, Betley, and Fuller testified that there was no agreement with Ferguson for reduction of her federal sentence was not clearly erroneous. Nor was the court’s finding that Temple presented no evidence showing that, other than immunity from state charges, Ferguson believed she would benefit from testifying at Temple’s trial. Based on its findings, the district court correctly concluded that absent evidence that Ferguson believed she would

receive some benefit for testifying, Temple failed to establish the first *Brady* factor.

Temple misstates the proper inquiry here. The issue is not whether Ferguson eventually received a reduction in her federal sentence. Rather, the relevant inquiry is whether the State made an undisclosed promise to seek a reduction in Ferguson's federal sentence in exchange for her cooperation. Contrary to Temple's argument, the mere fact that Betley filed a Rule 35 Motion that the federal court accepted does not provide sufficient evidence of any such promise. *See Woodford, supra* (witness' hopes insufficient under *Giglio/Brady*); *Bell, supra*.

Temple's reliance on Ferguson's prior treatment in federal district court cannot establish that she absolutely expected a reduction of her federal sentence in exchange for her testimony. At most, the record shows Ferguson might have hoped the Government would file a Rule 35 Motion. That is insufficient to establish a *Brady/Giglio* claim.

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